# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO: 2007-CA-01420

BELINDA ELLZEY	APPELLANT	
VERSUS		
EDDIE OWEN MCCORMICK	APPELLEE	
BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT BELINDA ELLZE	Y	
Oral Argument Requested		

NICHOLSON & NICHOLSON Gail D. Nicholson, MSB

Phone: (228) 868-3288 Fax: (228) 863-1818

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The following persons may have an interest in the outcome of this case:

- 1. Belinda Ellzey, Appellant/Contestant
- 2. Eddie Owen McCormick, Appellee/Proponent
- 3. Edward E. Patten, Jr., Chancellor Copiah County Chancery Court Post Office Drawer 707 Hazlehurst, MS 39083-707
- 4. Jim Persons, Chancellor Harrison County Chancery Court Post Office Box 457 Gulfport, MS 39502

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Course of the proceedings in the Court below.

In April 2002, Owen McCormick was admitted to Seasons, a geriatric psychiatric ward at Garden Park Hospital in Gulfport, Mississippi, for a two week stay wherein he was diagnosis with dementia with delusions and was displaying symptomology to include paranoia, aggression, confusion and forgetfulness. Two treating physicians signed affidavits that he was incapable of caring for himself or to make decisions in his best interest. (RE-109; Exhibit 7, attachment) The treating Psychiatrist opined this condition was lifelong and not remissible. (Exhibit 12, pp.17-30)

On March 26, 2003, Owen McCormick died in the Hardy Wilson Hospital at 84 years of age. The Death Summary documented, "fall with multiple fractures, resultant multi-infarct dementia, pneumonia, pneumathorax, and subcutaneous emphysema, osteoarthritis, essential hypertension, chronic atrial fibrillation, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, hydronephrosis, right kidney, gastresophageal reflux disease, and chronic renal failure." (Exhibit 13, p.37)

On April 1, 2003, Mr. McCormick's daughter, Belinda Ellzey, (hereinafter "Belinda"), filed a Petition for Issuance for Letters of Administration, in the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First Judicial District (RE-5) advising that her Father had resided for more than fifty years in Gulfport, Mississippi; that he owned certain real and personal property there. She advised the Court that a "purported Will" existed which she averred was invalid, illegal, and void due to her Father's advanced years, psychiatric history, and medical problems at the time of its creation. She further

advised the Court that she believed that there was a previous Will which would be sought out during the course of the administration of the estate.

The Order granting Letters of Administration issued on April 1, 2003, (RE-8) appointing Belinda as the Administratrix of her Father's estate, and on April 29, 2003, she filed a Petition to Recover Assets; to Set Aside Invalid Will; for an Accounting; and for Equitable Relief. (RE-10) This Petition was filed in response to her discovery, following her Father's death, that in the final few months of his life, her brother had become the beneficiary, person payable on death, or joint tenant with right of survivorship for almost every asset owned by her Father.

Rather than meet these pleadings on the merits, Eddie McCormick filed a Petition for Probate of Will in Copiah County on May 6, 2003. (RE-16) He made no reference to the pending Harrison County, Mississippi matter and presented a self serving Order to the Court providing that his Father was of sound mind at the time he signed the Will and relieving Eddie McCormick of any duty to file an Inventory, obtain an appraisement, or post a bond. This Judgment admitting the Will to Probate and Granting Letters Testamentary was signed on May 6, 2003. (RE-28)

On May 12, 2003, Belinda Ellzey filed a Special Appearance to Assert Lack of Jurisdiction Over the Subject Matter, specifically raising the issue of the invalid Will in that pleading and attaching thereto copies of the Harrison County Chancery proceedings; requesting that the Copiah County Chancery Court transfer the case to Harrison County Chancery Court; and requesting that the Chancellors of the two jurisdictions confer. (RE-31) Although the Chancellors did confer, a ruling on the

jurisdictional issue did not get entered until January 5, 2006, in part because of the chaos created in Harrison County by Hurricane Katrina during the intervening months.

The Order dismissed the Harrison County action without prejudice pending litigation of the issue of the validity of the Will in Copiah County and provided further that, should the Will be found invalid, the cause would be reinstated and administration of the intestate estate would proceed in Harrison County. (RE-42)

Within a week of this Order being entered, Belinda filed a Petition to Contest Probated Will, to Set Aside Intervivos Gifts, for an Accounting, and for an Order Compelling Disgorgement of Wrongfully Acquired Assets or the Proceeds therefrom in Copiah County. (RE-46) On January 24, 2006, a Response to this petition was filed by Counsel for Eddie asserting a boiler plate statute of limitations defense. (RE-50)

Thereafter, discovery was completed without any objection or reference to the statute of limitations defense. The statute of limitations argument was not raised until the first day of trial, on December 11, 2006. The Court allowed testimony to proceed and then three months later faxed a Ruling Granting the Affirmative Defense of Statute of Limitations (RE-53) to Counsel for Belinda at close of business on Friday, March 23, 2007, when trial was set to resume at 9:00 a.m. on the following Monday, March 26, 2007.

Trial concluded on March 27, 2007; the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law was rendered on June 25, 2007 (RE-59); and reduced to Final Judgment on July 16, 2007, (RE-106) from which this appeal follows.

## B. Facts relevant to the issues presented for review.

In April 2002, Owen McCormick was diagnosed with dementia with delusions after being admitted to Seasons, the geriatric psychiatric ward of Garden Park Hospital in Gulfport, Mississippi for a two week stay. His progress notes for April 18<sup>th</sup> reflect "problem resolving delirium, Son says its ongoing and progressing over the last two years", "he called someone to come fix his car and pulled a gun on them when they arrived". The notes further document episodes of paranoia, aggression, confusion, and forgetfulness. (Exhibit 12, exhibit 2)

His treating Psychiatrist, Dr. James Rusch, noted that Mr. McCormick would try to present himself as having no difficulty; would say he was fine; and would accuse others of trying to trick him. Mr. McCormick who was in his mid eighties, would wander, lost, into other patient's rooms, hide his medication, and tried very hard to go home saying, "I need to take care of stuff for the Sheriff." He had been very noncompliant with medical personnel, wanting to leave, and Eddie calmed him down. (R-85)

Dr. Rusch noted that it was important to Owen not to be placed in assisted living. He also noted highly significant cognitive deficiencies; documented that Owen McCormick was highly suspicious of his son with whom he did not get along well; and gave the opinion that he would need twenty-four hour observation and care for the rest of his life. (Exhibit 12, exhibit 2) On April 22, Dr. Rusch noted, "He will resist external intervention, but Guardianship is indicated since components are, we feel, persistent to put Patient at risk. Filled out Conservatorship form, but family will have to consent to our efforts before this can be filed."

When asked, at his deposition, about the possibility of recovery or improvement, Dr. Rusch explained that the progressive dementia would stair-step down level by level and never up. The brain tissue is dead and it will not come back, he explained. He noted that Owen McCormick would want to appear independent and self directed but that he had impaired executive functioning and did not have the abstract ability to see his long term course or to see that possibly the information he was using did not fit a factual basis. (Exhibit 12, p.30)

Dr. Rusch acknowledged that a lay person could think that Owen McCormick was fine because Owen would say that everything was fine and would only allow focus on issues he was confident in. Dr. Rusch was firm in his opinion that Owen's current state of dementia was a baseline condition, long term, not treatable nor remissable. (Exhibit 12, pp.17-34) He signed an affidavit, which he testified that he did at Eddie's request, opining that Owen McCormick was incapable of caring for himself or to make decisions in his best interest. (RE-109) Dr. Valerie Lennox, one of Owen's primary care physicians, also signed an affidavit to the same end. (Exhibit 7, attachment)

In March 2003, Owen McCormick was once again in the hospital, this time in Copiah County where he had come to live with Eddie, who was the Administrator of the medical clinics where Owen was being treated. Reference to the hospital records reflects that, as in the 2002 hospitalization, Mr. McCormick was wandering into other patient's rooms, lost, hallucinating, and on the days preceding his death, in restraints to protect him from himself, trailing urine as he walked, incontinent both bladder and bowel, unable to speak to his physical therapist, unintelligible, and unable to stick out his tongue at the physical therapist's request.

Despite the frailties reflected by his medical records, (Exhibit 13) Eddie testified, and the Court accepted, that at 8:00 p.m. on the evening before he died, Owen McCormick chose as his last words, "Eddie, I trust you completely." (R-36)

During this hospitalization, wherein he was sometimes restrained to prevent him from hurting himself, Mr. McCormick signed a deed selling his house (Exhibit 24) and created a trust instrument with the help of a nurse holding his hand on the pen which named Eddie as the trustee for funds being left to his grandson, Brandon Ellzey, Belinda's son, a young man who had absolutely no relationship whatsoever with Eddie McCormick. (Exhibit 8; R-p.197)

Prior to these hospitalizations Owen McCormick lived on the Mississippi Gulf Coast, in the same house for over fifty years. Up until the day he left to go live with his son Eddie in Copiah County, rather than be placed in an assisted care facility against his will, he had never placed Eddie's name on any asset and had designated Eddie as a beneficiary on only one of his many investment accounts. From October 26, 2002, until the day of Owen's death, March 26, 2003, that changed radically with Eddie becoming either the joint tenant with right of survivorship, beneficiary, or "pay on death" designee on every single asset owned by Owen McCormick with the exception of his state P.E.R.S. retirement. Eddie testified that Owen added him to the P.E.R.S. account then changed his mind and took him back off. (R-122)

It is noteworthy that Eddie was the Administrator of the Copiah Medical Associates which maintain clinics in Hazelhurst and in Crystal Springs. He had held this position for twenty-seven years and ran the total business operation of both clinics. The two physicians that treated Owen while he was in Copiah County were Dr.

McDonnell, who had worked with Eddie for twenty-seven years, and Dr. Hankins, who had worked with Eddie for twenty-two years. Despite his long history with these two Doctors, Eddie, who decided where Owen would go for medical care, offered testimony from neither at the trial of this matter. (R-112-113)

The medical records from Owen's two hospitalizations in Copiah County reflect his admission on March 3, 2003 for cerebralvascular accident with complications from pneumonia, chronic renal insufficiency, chronic heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and atrial fibrillation. The CT of Owen McCormick's head done on March 3, 2003, reflects extensive cerebral atrophy, severe chronic appearing aschemic changes throughout the white matter, and extensive vascular calcification involving the vertebral incaratid vessels." (Exhibit 13, p.111, 116).

When Owen was admitted again on March 12, 2003, it was because of a fall with multiple rib fractures and pneumathorax with complications from multiinfarct dementia, osteoarthritis, essential hypertension, chronic atrial fibrillation, chronic lung disease, hydromorphosis right kidney, gastro-esophagus disease, and renal failure. Owen died fourteen days thereafter. Belinda nor her daughter, Brooke, were informed of either hospitalization until a very few days before Owen died. (R-202, 311)

As the Brother and Sister were leaving Owen's funeral, Eddie handed Belinda a copy of Owen's new Will and a trust document showing that he was now in control of money Owen had held in a bank account for Belinda's son, Brandon's, education.

(Exhibit 8) Both Belinda and her daughter Brooke testified that this was the first that they knew of a new Will. (R-310-313; 194-197) Thereafter, Belinda asked her Brother

about the status of some of her Dad's assets and was met with the response, "its none of your business" which caused her concern and as a result she opened an estate for her Father.

Upon learning that Belinda had opened an estate, Eddie wrote a self serving letter disclosing the status of various assets. (Exhibit 9) The letter is full of, "I'm sure you recall" language, very little of which Belinda recalls at all. The end result of Eddie's disclosure and Belinda's subpoenas to Owen's bank made clear that all accounts, certificates of deposit, and investments had been changed since Owen went to live with Eddie to make Eddie either the beneficiary, the joint tenant with right of survivorship, or the POD designee. Eddie does concede, in this letter, telling Belinda, "its none of your business" in response to her inquiry about one of her Father's assets and then follows with additional, "you will recall" explanations which benefit his version of events and bear little resemblance to Belinda's.

Both Belinda and Brooke testified that Eddie promised to keep Owen's affairs as a "family decision-making process" but that they only learned of all the changes in assets after the Estate was opened. Eddie admits he never told Belinda (R-124), and did not copy her with letters when he began cashing in assets even though he now says they are half hers. A position he first took after the Estate was opened. (R-136-142)

During litigation the facts surrounding the changes and transfers of Owen's assets were revealed:

#### The Sale of Owen's House:

The Realtor filled out the Seller's Disclosure form even though the law requires the Owner to do so, and he knew "it was not right to do so." He admitted that the practice in the industry is for the Seller fill out the form. (R-pp.370-372)

The Realtor identified copies of the Disclosure form in his file which were identical except one page would reflected an "X" where Owen should initial and another bore his initials. (Exhibit 18 and 19)

The Realtor admits that Owen would repeatedly remove the "for sale" sign from his yard and would be adamant that he wanted to sell on one day and just as adamant that he did not on another. (R-pp.384-387)

The Realtor was not informed that Eddie had previously obtained an affidavit from his Father's treating Psychiatrist and primary care Doctor that his Father was incompetent to handle his own business affairs, nor was he advised that Owen was in the hospital and was being restrained by straps to his bed on the days surrounding his signature of the deed which was signed five days before his death. The Realtor, testified that it would have certainly been a matter of concern to him had he known as it could void the sale. (R-pp.393))

#### The December 2002 Will:

The lawyer, Paul Davis, who wrote and witnessed Owen's new Will, was Eddie's brother-in-law, (their wives are sisters), next door neighbor, and close personal friend. He met with Owen on four occasions for approximately fifteen minutes each, produced a draft of the will, and because of his concern that he might be perceived as lacking independence, took Owen to see another attorney, Robert Lawrence, who attended the

same church with Paul, served as the attorney for a school board which Paul was a member of, and reviewed the Will "as a favor" for Paul. (R-487-532) Neither of these attorneys opened a file, were paid a fee, nor had any notes from their representation of Owen. Neither knew of his psychiatric history.

Incredibly, Robert Lawrence, testified that it was a "red flag" to him when he was asked to review the Will; that Davis had given him a "head's up" on concerns of undue influence. (R-561) Mr. Lawrence testified that it was a common practice to video tape or otherwise memorialize the competency of an elderly client when such issues might be raised, but in this case, he had not one note from his one meeting with Owen wherein he reviewed a Will created by Paul, which was thereafter modified by Paul, and signed with the two attorneys as witnesses thereto. (R-561-580)

Mr. Lawrence, who met Owen only once for about an hour, testified that it also would have mattered to him had he been advised of the previous diagnosis of dementia and the sworn testimony of Owen's treating psychiatrist that Owen McCormick was not competent to conduct his own business affairs. (R-577)

# Copiah County Bank:

The Banker who assisted Owen McCormick in opening accounts in Copiah County was the college roommate and fraternity brother of Eddie. He and Eddie and Paul all have cabins at a camp on Lake Yucaton in Louisiana where they go for vacations. He met with Owen and opened an account pursuant to Owen's directive then had to change it when Owen did not like Eddie's name appearing on his checks. He had no knowledge of Owen's psychiatric history. (R-480-484) Eddie remained a Joint Tenant With Rights of Survivorship on the account.

Eddie was a big fish in a small pond, and his Father, once he came to live with Eddie, was submersed in his orbit. This is consistent with Dr. Rusch's observations of the family dynamics while he was treating Owen. He noted that Eddie was a strong personality who was the driving force behind getting the affidavits for conservatorship signed by the Doctors. He documented twice that Owen did not trust Eddie. He also noted that Eddie reported that the dementia had been progressing over the past two years. (Exhibit 12, pp. 27, 37, 50) Dr. Rusch also noted that Belinda could not say "No" to her Dad, and could not tell him what to do. "He would self direct."

#### II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Copiah County Chancery Court lacked jurisdiction under the doctrine of priority of jurisdiction. The Court erred in finding that the Will contest was barred by the two year statute of limitations as the Special Appearance filed in Copiah County squarely set forth the challenge to the Copiah County Will; an additional pleading was filed within days of the Order being entered after the Chancellors conferred on jurisdiction; and Eddie did not bring forward his motion to dismiss on the ground of statute of limitations until the first day of trial.

The unrefuted medical testimony establishes that Owen McCormick was unable, because of substantially impaired executive functioning judgment to have the abstract ability to see his long term course or to see that information he was using did not fit a factual basis, and therefore could not conduct his own business affairs in his best interest, thus, all legal acts attributed to him while under the care and control of Eddie are void or voidable.

The stipulation with regard to bank account funds belonging to Brandon Ellzey did not encompass a stipulation that the funds remain in the Trust created on Owen's death bed, which is controlled by Eddie.

The Executor should not be relieved of his fiduciary obligation to account to his sister and co-heir for their Father's assets.

#### III. ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: JURISDICTION OF THE ESTATE OF OWEN MCCORMICK WAS PROPERLY IN HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

On April 1, 2003, Belinda filed a Petition for Issuance of Letters of Administration in Harrison County, Mississippi wherein she advised the Court that a purported Will existed which she averred was invalid, illegal, and void due to her Father's advanced years, psychiatric history, and medical problems at the time of his signature. (RE-p.5)

On April 29, 2003, she filed a Petition to Recover Assets; to Set Aside Invalid Will; for an Accounting; and for Equitable Relief. (RE-p.10) Both of these matters were served on Eddie McCormick prior to his filing a Petition for Probate of Will in Copiah County on May 6, 2003. (RE-p.16) These two actions were between the same parties, and sought resolution of the same issues. Under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, no technical forms of pleadings are required so long as notice of the substance of the claim is given to the parties. see MRCP, Rule 8; see also In Re: Administration of Estate of Abernathy, 778 So.2d 123 (Miss. 2001). Belinda's pleadings, in both causes, are very clear as to the nature of her complaint.

This Court has repeatedly stated the, "well established rule in this jurisdiction,"

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