2007-CA-01420



CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Belinda Ellzey, Appellant/Contestant
- 2. Eddie Owen McCormick, Appellee/Proponent
- Edward E. Patten, Jr., Chancellor Copiah County Chancery Court Post Office Box 507 Hazlehurst, Mississippi 39083-0707
- Olen C. Bryant, Jr., and Timothy L. Rutland, Attorneys for Appellee Post Office Box 899 Hazlehurst, Mississippi 39083-0899

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor's findings of fact were grounded on credible, and often times uncontradicted, evidence. Under no circumstances could there be a finding of manifest error.

The ruling of the trial court on the questions of jurisdiction and statute of limitations was grounded in solid statutory and case law. The court of proper jurisdiction was the Court where the will was probated, the Chancery Court of Copiah County. The ruling on the statute of limitations was correctly made. In any event, the validity of the will was fully tried by the Chancery Court, since the facts surrounding the execution of the will were probative of the other issues in this case. There was no evidence regarding the execution of the will that Belinda was prevented from introducing to the trial court because of that court's ruling on the statute of limitations.

Owen was not mentally incompetent as a result of the stay in Garden Park Hospital. The numerous business affairs which he subsequently conducted for himself are a testament to this fact. All of the gifts made by Owen and his Last Will and Testament were not the product of undue influence and are legally valid.

ARGUMENT

1. Jurisdiction/Statute of Limitations.

Belinda's primary arguments in this appeal seems to be that "jurisdiction" is proper in Harrison County, and that the will contest was not barred by the statute of limitations.

The trial court allowed evidence of the execution of the will, since it had probative value on the other issues which were presented (such as undue influence, mental competency, independent acts, etc.). These issues primarily had bearing on the question of the inter vivos gifts. After listening to much evidence surrounding the preparation and execution of the will, the Chancellor specifically found "ample evidence" that the will is good and valid.

These actions of the Court in allowing evidence of the preparation and execution of the will and the Court's finding of its subsequent validity (the Court's ruling on the statute of limitations not withstanding), make Belinda's argument on jurisdiction and limitation of actions entirely moot. Nevertheless, these issues will be addressed.

Belinda seems to confuse the term "jurisdiction" with "venue". Her citation of §9-5-83, Mississippi Code Annotated (1972) is not helpful, since this statute simply confers jurisdiction of Estate matters in all Mississippi Chancery Courts. It cannot be seriously argued that the Copiah County Chancery Court lacks jurisdiction of a will probate or an estate administration.

By statute the filing of a will probate supercedes a previously filed administration on the same estate.

If a will shall be found and probated and Letters Testamentary be granted thereon, the same shall be a revocation of the administration; but acts lawfully done by the administrator without actual notice of such revocation shall be valid and binding. §91-7-87, Mississippi Code Annotated (1972).

Belinda became aware of the will probate at least by May 12, 2003, when her counsel

entered appearance to contest "jurisdiction". Belinda's sole focus appeared to be having the estate administered in Harrison County. This focus persisted to the peril of allowing the statute of limitation on the will contest to expire before a petition to contest the will was filed on January 2, 2006. Simply stated, the will must be contested within two years of probate, if at all. This statute of limitation is clearly set forth by §91-7-23, Mississippi Code Annotated (1972). The word "probate" within the meaning of this statute refers to the act of the clerk accepting the will for probate rather than the date upon which the estate is closed. Therefore, the two year statute of limitation runs from the date the clerk admits the will to probate. In Re: Will of Fields, 570 So.2d 1202 (Miss. 1990). The will contest was not filed until January 2, 2006. This was clearly beyond the two year statute of limitations. Eddie raised the statute of limitations as a defense in his response to the will contest. The issue of the statute of limitations was timely raised. What has not been timely raised is Belinda's objection to the statute of limitations defense raised by Eddie. The statute of limitations was raised by oral motion prior to the beginning of the trial. The parties made their arguments to the Court at that time. Belinda's argument did not include any objection to the timeliness of the oral motion for hearing on the statute of limitations defense. This has been raised for the first time only on this appeal. Therefore, it should not be considered by this Court.

Belinda's citation of Whitten v. Whitten, 956 So.2d 1093 (Miss. CA 2007), in support of her argument on the statute of limitations is misplaced. In the Whitten case, the affirmative defense asserted, if successful, would have led to a termination of the entire litigation. In the present case, the litigation would have continued, as it did, regarding the other issues surrounding the inter vivos gifts. Therefore, no prejudice to Belinda existed.

It is clear that the contest of a probated will must be brought in the Court in which the will was probated. *Armisteads Estate*, 4 F.Supp. 606 (S.D. Miss. 1933). Following the holding

in this case, any action or petition filed in any court other than the court in which the will is probated is not sufficient to properly contest the will and toll the statute of limitation.

In the Last Will and Testament of Winding, 783 So.2d 707 (Miss. 2001), the Court analyzed §91-7-23, Mississippi Code Annotated (1972), after a motion to dismiss based on the statute of limitations was granted by the trial court. Winding presented a factual analysis similar to the case at bar. The contestant knew almost from the moment the will was offered for probate of its contents and effects. The contestant argued that she was misled to believe that her rights were protected. The Court stated:

"This case is a matter of clear statutory language. Williams awaited to contest a will that had been admitted to probate for nearly four years. She admits knowing of the probate proceedings and her absence as legatee for over three years. Even if she was misled to believe her rights were protected, we do not reward those who fail to protect themselves. '[E]quity aids the vigilant and not those who slumber on their rights.' In Re: Estate of Davis, 510 So.2d 798, 800 (Miss. 1987). The statute of limitations for a will contest has run. The Chancellor did not err in dismissing the petition for a will contest." Last Will and Testament of Winding, P.711.

The case of *National Heritage Realty, Inc. v. Estate of Boles,* 947 So.2d 238 (Miss. 2006) cited by Belinda is instructive in the present case, but not for the reasons argued by her. In *National Heritage Realty, Inc.* an administration was opened in Tallahatchie County where it was later determined that the proper venue was Leflore County. The specific holding of the Supreme Court was to the effect that the Chancellor erred in transferring the case from one Court to the other, when the proper procedure would have been to dismiss the case and then have it re-filed in the proper county. The Court determined that "Section 91-7-63(1) is an exclusive venue statute, making it jurisdictional *in nature*". This is, in effect, what happened in the case at bar. The Harrison County proceeding was dismissed and the will probate was properly filed in Copiah County. The problem

for Belinda is that she did not contest the will until almost three years after probate. Contrary to the argument of Belinda, an estate administration and a will probate are two completely distinct and separate actions. In the special appearance to assert lack of jurisdiction filed on May 12, 2003, no claim for relief under the will contest issue was sought. The only relief sought in that pleading was a transfer of the will probate matter from Copiah County to Harrison County. Her pleading was not sufficient under Rule 8 Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure to constitute a will contest.

2. Chancellor's Findings.

A large part of Belinda's argument alleges manifest error on the part of the chancellor in rendering his findings of fact. We believe the findings of fact are the result of a well-reasoned consideration of the testimony and are supported by substantial credible evidence. The extent of review by the appellate court as to claims of manifest error is well settled. The appellate court has a limited standard of review of a chancellor's finding of fact. This standard of review was recently summarized by the Court in the case of *In the Matter of the Last Will and Testament of Boyles v. Tadlock,* So.2d - - - -, 2008 WL 711729 (Miss. App.)

This Court considers decisions of chancellors under a limited standard of review. McNeil v. Hester, 753 So.2d 1057, 1063 (¶21) (Miss. 2000). Specifically, "[t]he chancellor, as the trier of fact, evaluates the sufficiency of the proof based on the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony." Volmer v. Volmer, 832 So.2d 615, 621-22 (¶21) (Miss. St. App. 2002) (quoting Fisher v. Fisher, 771 So.2d 364, 367 (¶8) (Miss. 2000)). As well as being the fact-finder, the chancellor is the sole judgment of the credibility of witnesses when resolving discrepancies in a witness's testimony. Murphy v. Murphy, 631 So.2d 812, 815 (Miss. 1994). Its findings will not be disturbed unless this Court finds that they were made in manifest error. Richardson v. Cornes, 903 So.2d 51, 56 (¶18) (Miss. 2005). In other words, "where the record contains substantial credible evidence to support the chancellor's findings, we will defer to them." Volmer, 832 So.2d at 622 (¶21). Errors of law, however, are reviewed de novo. Cooper v. Crabb, 587 So.2d 236, 239 (Miss. 1991). Boyles v. Tadlock, p.3.

Belinda seems to believe that Owen's stay in Garden Park Hospital in April 2002 established his permanent mental incompetence. This issue is dealt with elsewhere in this brief. Suffice it to say here that the chancellor followed clear case law and substantial credible evidence in his finding that at the relevant times Owen had sufficient legal capacity to act.

In making her argument for manifest error, Belinda would have this Court completely discount the testimony of all witnesses with the exception of Belinda and Brooke. The testimony of Brooke was contradicted in large part by the testimony of Andy Sawyer. Sawyer had absolutely no stake in the outcome of the litigation. (Belinda did not even contest the sale of the house.) His credibility is beyond question. The chancellor obviously made a careful evaluation of this matter in finding that Brooke's testimony was not credible.

Neither Belinda nor Brooke had any personal knowledge whatsoever about the making of any of the gifts or the will which are at issue in this appeal. Nevertheless, Belinda urges this Court to totally disregard the sworn testimony of two reputable, experienced and ethical members of the bar and the other uncontradicted testimony of numerous witnesses that all relate to the making of the will and the inter vivos gifts.

3. Confidential Relationships and Undue Influence.

Our jurisprudence on confidential relationships and undue influence in making wills and gifts is extensive and clear. We will cite only a limited number of such cases in support of the arguments made in this brief.

A presumption of undue influence arises where one in a fiduciary relationship with the donor-testator is involved in the making of the will or the gift. In other words, two elements are necessary — a confidential relationship and active participation. The burden of proving the existence of the confidential relationship is on the party who alleges it. To set aside a deed or a will

due to undue influence, it must be shown that the one exerting the influence used undue methods and actually overcame the free and unrestrained will of the grantor or the testator to the extent that his acts were controlled and he was prevented from being a free agent. *In Re: Estate of Chapman*, 966 So.2d 1262 (Miss. 2007).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has established a three-pronged test to overcome the presumption of undue influence — whether the grantee\beneficiary acted in good faith; whether the grantor acted with full knowledge and deliberation; whether the grantor exhibited independent consent and action. *Murray v. Laird*, 446 So.2d 575 (Miss. 1984). In determining good faith on the part of the beneficiary, the determinations include who initiated the procurement of the instrument, where it was executed, who was present, and whether secrecy existed surrounding the instrument. Elements to determine whether the grantor/testator acted with full knowledge and deliberation include his awareness of his assets and their value, the identity of his natural inheritors, his understanding of how any changes would affect prior wills, who controlled his finances, and susceptible he was to influence. *Johnson v. Dodson*, 911 So.2d 961 (Miss. 2004). *Estate of Clyde v. Woodfield*, 968 So.2d 475 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). *Madden v. Rhodes*, 626 So.2d 608 (Miss. 1993), *Murray v. Laird*, 446 So.2d 575 (Miss. 1984), *In Re: Estate of Chapman*, 966 So.2d 1262 (Miss. 2007).

The case of *Williams v. Estate of Cheeks*, 961 So.2d 65 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), has facts which are particularly instructive in the present case. Witnesses testified that Cheeks was strong willed and independent, comparable to the testimony in this case regarding Owen. No evidence was presented in the Cheek case that the testator was not aware of the value of her assets or did not understand who her natural inheritors were, or the consequences of her distribution. A particularly striking similarity with the present case was the fact that Cheeks sold her house shortly

before making her will and no one objected to the sale.

Cheeks was strong-willed and independent. No one testified that she was not in control of her mental faculties. No evidence was presented that she was not aware of the value of her assets or that she did not understand who her natural inheritors were or the consequences of her distribution. Cheeks had three bank accounts. One account was held solely by Cheeks. One account was held jointly by Cheeks and Harper. Another account was held jointly be Cheeks, Harper, and a third person. Witnesses testified that Cheeks was a "business woman" and was not dependent on anyone to handle her finances. Smith, however, testified that she had been assisting Cheeks with her business affairs since 1986 and that Cheeks was not as "sharp" as others testified. Despite Smith's testimony that Cheeks was not independent, sufficient evidence was presented to the contrary to support the chancellor's finding that Cheeks acted with knowledge and deliberation. For example, no one objected when Cheeks sold land shortly before making the will or during the sale of her home which was put on the market the day after the will was made and sold about three months later. No evidence exists in the record that it was anyone other than Cheeks's idea to prepare a will. Williams, 961 So.2d at 69.

It was shown that it was no one other than Cheeks' idea to prepare the will. The attorney preparing the will stated that Cheeks read and understood the will and expressed that that was what she wanted. This is a close parallel to the circumstances under which Owen executed his will. Witnesses in the Cheeks' case testified that the testator was competent and sharp, similar to the testimony in the present case.

Independent consent can be shown in several ways. First, did the donor/testator have the advice of a competent person? Was that person disconnected from the grantee? Was that person wholly devoted to the grantor's/testator's interests? *Howell v. May*, So.2d - - - -, 2007 WL 1747120 (Miss. App.). Citing *Dean v. Kavanaugh*, 920 So.2d 528, 537 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In the preparation of the will, Owen had the advice of attorney Bob Lawrence who without question was an attorney competent to provide this advice. The testimony is clear that Mr. Lawrence had no

connection with the McCormick family. His only interest was to produce a will which was in strict conformity with the desires of Owen. He testified that this was accomplished.

Howell v. May, (supra) is also significant for an additional finding. One of the issues in that case was a challenge of a gift made by the donor to the defendant's children. The Court found that a confidential relationship existed between the donor and her daughter. However, the Court further found that no confidential relationship existed between the donor and the grandchildren. On this basis, the Court refused to set aside the gifts to the grandchildren.

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